No. 71810-0-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MARVIN KRONA,

Appellant.

2014/107-5 PH 1:54



# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

WHITNEY RIVERA Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711
whitney@washapp.org

### **

#### A. INTRODUCTION

Marvin Krona was arrested by Snohomish County Sheriff's deputies while seated in a parked car. It was apparent that Mr. Krona was exceedingly intoxicated and he was taken to the hospital to get medical approval before being booked into jail. Mr. Krona had difficulty standing upright and went in and out of consciousness. Mr. Krona was in handcuffs or in four-point restraints in his hospital bed throughout this incident. He was uncooperative and threatened everyone he had contact with, including law enforcement, the aid crew, medical staff, and hospital security.

Mr. Krona's harassment conviction violates the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution because his verbal abuse did not constitute a "true threat" and no reasonable criminal justice participant would fear that Mr. Krona would carry out the countless idle threats he made while in a drunken stupor. Moreover, the unconstitutional admission of testimony that Mr. Krona had threatened other police officers in the past separately warrants reversal and remand for a new trial. Lastly, the trial court miscalculated Mr. Krona's offender score.

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Mr. Krona's harassment conviction violates due process because the evidence was insufficient to allow a rational trier of fact to find the elements beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 2. Mr. Krona's harassment conviction violates his First

  Amendment rights because no rational trier of fact could find that his

  drunken tirade constituted a "true threat."
- 3. The admission of testimony that Mr. Krona had previously threatened law enforcement officers, resisted arrest, and was considered dangerous by other non-testifying police officers violated his Sixth Amendment confrontation rights and the Rules of Evidence.
- 4. The trial court misapplied RCW 9.94A.525, resulting in a miscalculation of Mr. Krona's offender score on both his driving under the influence and harassment convictions.

#### C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A conviction based on insufficient evidence contravenes the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Evidence is insufficient if no rational trier of fact could find all of the elements of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. Was there insufficient evidence to prove that a reasonable criminal justice participant would

have reasonably feared that Mr. Krona's threat would be carried out where he was extraordinarily intoxicated, fully restrained, and directed empty threats to everyone with whom he had contact?

- 2. A "true threat" is a statement made in a context and under such circumstances that a reasonable person would foresee that it would be interpreted as a serious expression of intent to inflict bodily harm upon another person. Under the First Amendment only a true threat suffices for a harassment conviction. Was there insufficient evidence to prove that Mr. Krona's words were a "true threat" where a reasonable person in his place would not have foreseen that the listener would interpret the statement as a serious expression of his intentions?
- 3. The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment provides that an accused has the right to be confronted with the witnesses against him. A criminal defendant must have a meaningful opportunity to cross examine adverse witnesses. An out of court statement is testimonial if its primary purpose is to establish past facts relevant to later prosecution. Did the admission of evidence that Mr. Krona had previously threatened law enforcements officers, resisted arrest, and was considered dangerous by other non-testifying officers violate his confrontation rights under the Sixth Amendment? Should this evidence

also have been excluded because it was inadmissible hearsay, unfairly prejudicial, and improper propensity evidence?

- 4. Where an offender score is legally erroneous due to misapplication of the statute, a reviewing court must reverse the sentence regardless of whether the appellant previously raised the argument. Former RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e) (2011) exclusively governs calculation of an offender score for driving under the influence. Did the trial court miscalculate Mr. Krona's driving under the influence offender score by including convictions that were not listed in RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e)?
- 5. Prior class C felony convictions shall not be included in the offender score if the individual has spent five consecutive years in the community without committing any crime that subsequently results in a conviction. Did the trial court miscalculate Mr. Krona's harassment offender score by including convictions that had washed?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 13, 2013, law enforcement responded to a 911 call from James Grout, who reported that he observed a gray Oldsmobile hit his fence. 3/3/14 RP 58. Mr. Grout had seen the vehicle before and associated it with the Krona family that lived at the end of the easement

that ran through Mr. Grout's property. 3/3/14 RP 59. Mr. Grout could not see who was driving the car on this occasion. *Id*.

Snohomish County Sheriff Deputies Daniel Johnson, Jacob Navarro, and Thomas Koziol arrived and observed the gray Oldsmobile parked in a field north of the Krona residence. 3/3/14 RP 134. The driver's side door was open and the engine was not running. 3/4/14 28, 33, 39, 42, 60. Deputies observed Marvin Krona sitting in the vehicle. 3/3/14 RP 115. They also noticed three full beer cans and two empty ones in the vehicle. 3/3/14 RP 115.

Mr. Krona was placed under arrest. 3/3/14 RP 116. The deputies noted that he was extraordinarily intoxicated, had difficulty standing, and had extremely slurred speech. 3/3/14 RP 116-17, 122. Once law enforcement tried to place Mr. Krona into the back of a patrol vehicle, he became uncooperative and began yelling. 3/4/14 RP 43. Mr. Krona was taken to the hospital prior to being transported to the jail. 3/3/14 RP 123-24.

Mr. Krona threatened everyone he came into contact with during the next few hours, including medical personnel both in the ambulance and at the hospital. 3/4/14 RP 126. Mr. Krona was placed in four-point restraints at the hospital and continued his unruly behavior. 3/4/14 RP

126. Mr. Krona was so severely intoxicated that he attempted to urinate on the hospital floor and slipped in and out of consciousness.

3/3/14 RP 126, 140. A blood draw was conducted pursuant to a warrant prior to Mr. Krona's discharge from the hospital. 3/3/14 RP 129.

Mr. Krona was charged with driving under the influence, harassment against a criminal justice participant, and driving while license revoked. CP 99-100. Deputy Navarro testified at trial that while at the hospital, Mr. Krona said he would find Deputy Navarro and kill him. 3/3/14 RP 126. The jury returned guilty verdicts on all counts. CP 56-59; 3/5/14 RP 4-5. Pertinent facts are addressed in further detail in the argument sections below.

#### E. ARGUMENT

1. Mr. Krona's harassment conviction violates due process and his right to free speech because there was insufficient evidence for a rational trier of fact to find all the elements beyond a reasonable doubt.

A conviction based on insufficient evidence contravenes the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 316, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979). A reviewing court must reverse a conviction for insufficient evidence where no

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> While the evidence showed that Mr. Krona threatened many people during this incident, he was only charged with harassment for his threats directed towards Deputy Navarro. CP 78.

rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt, viewing all evidence in the light most favorable to the State. *State v. Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d 1, 6, 309 P.3d 318 (2013). "[I]nferences based on circumstantial evidence must be reasonable and cannot be based on speculation." *Id.* at 16. Such inferences must be "logically derived from the facts proved, and should not be the subject of mere surmise or arbitrary assumption." *Bailey v. Alabama*, 219 U.S. 219, 232, 31 S. Ct. 145, 55 L. Ed. 191 (1911).

On an appeal of a conviction for harassment, reviewing courts apply the rule of independent review because the sufficiency of evidence question involves the essential First Amendment question of whether the defendant's statements constituted a "true threat" and therefore unprotected speech. *State v. Kilburn*, 151 Wn.2d 36, 52, 84 P.3d 1215 (2004). Appellate courts must review those "crucial" facts that necessarily involve the legal interpretation of whether the speech is protected. *Id.* Because of the First Amendment implications, a harassment conviction based upon a threat requires that "the State satisfy both the First Amendment demands – by proving a true threat was made – and the statute, by proving all the statutory elements of the crime." *Id.* at 54.

a. No rational trier of fact could find that a reasonable criminal justice participant would be fearful that Mr. Krona would carry out any threats made.

A defendant is guilty of harassment if, without lawful authority, he "knowingly threatens ... [t]o cause bodily injury immediately or in the future to the person threatened or to any other person" and "by words or conduct places the person threatened in reasonable fear that the threat will be carried out." RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a)(i), (b). This offense is a class C felony if the defendant "harasses a criminal justice participant who is performing his or her duties at the time the threat is made" or "because of an action taken or decision made by the criminal justice participant during the performance of his or her official duties." RCW 9A.46.020(2)(b)(iii)-(iv).

When the threat involves a criminal justice participant, "the fear from the threat must be a fear that a reasonable criminal justice participant would have under all the circumstances." RCW 9A.46.020(2)(b). "Threatening words do not constitute harassment if it is apparent to the criminal justice participant that the person does not have the present and future ability to carry out the threat." *Id*.

The evidence failed to establish that Deputy Navarro's fear from the threat was a fear that a reasonable criminal justice participant would have under the circumstances. Mr. Krona was so extremely intoxicated that he had to be taken to the hospital in order for the jail to receive medical approval to book him. 3/3/14 RP 123-24. Mr. Krona could not stand properly upon exiting the car and officers placed him on the ground so that he would not fall. 3/3/14 RP 117, 137. Mr. Krona's speech was extremely slurred and he went in and out of consciousness at the hospital. 3/3/14 RP 122, 140.

Mr. Krona threatened everyone he came into contact with that evening, including the aid crew, medical staff, hospital security, and law enforcement. 3/3/14 RP 124, 126. At one point, Mr. Krona was so intoxicated that he attempted to urinate on the hospital floor. 3/3/14 RP 126. Deputy Navarro never previously had contact with Mr. Krona and testified that Mr. Krona did not know where he lives. 3/3/14 RP 140. Deputy Navarro never expressed any concern about the threats made by Mr. Krona to his field training officer, Deputy Johnson. 3/4/14 RP 47.

Mr. Krona was in handcuffs or restrained to a hospital bed throughout the contact with Deputy Navarro. 3/3/14 RP 116, 125, 126. Mr. Krona testified that he recalled being "foul mouthed," but did not have a full memory of what he said. 3/4/14 RP 124. Under these circumstances, no reasonable criminal justice participant would fear

that this fully restrained, remarkably intoxicated individual, who was threatening every single person with whom he had contact, would actually carry out his numerous idle threats. Moreover, no reasonable criminal justice participant would fear that Mr. Krona would single him out of all the people threatened and carry out his threat in the future.

No rational trier of fact could find this necessary element beyond a reasonable doubt. Mr. Krona's conviction for harassment violates his due process rights because the State failed to prove this essential element of the crime.

b. Mr. Krona's harassment conviction constitutes an unconstitutional infringement on protected speech because there was insufficient evidence to establish a "true threat."

Under the First Amendment only a true threat suffices for a conviction for felony harassment. *Kilburn*, 151 Wn.2d at 41. Because RCW 9A.46.020 criminalizes speech, it "must be interpreted with the commands of the First Amendment clearly in mind." *Id.* (quoting *State* v. *Williams*, 144 Wn.2d 197, 206-07, 26 P.3d 890 (2001)). To avoid unconstitutional infringement of protected speech, the harassment statute must be read as clearly prohibiting only "true threats." *Williams*, 144 Wn.2d at 208.

A "true threat" is "a statement made in a context and under such circumstances wherein a reasonable person would foresee that the statement would be interpreted ... as a serious expression of intent to inflict bodily harm upon or to take the life" of another person. *Id.* at 208-09. A true threat is a serious threat, as opposed to one "said in idle jest, idle talk, or political argument." *Kilburn*, 151 Wn.2d at 43 (quoting *United States v. Howell*, 719 F.2d 1258, 1260 (5th Cir. 1984)). Under this standard, whether a true threat has been made is determined under an objective standard that focuses on the speaker. *Id.* at 44.<sup>2</sup>

"An appellate court must be exceedingly cautious when assessing whether a statement falls within the ambit of a true threat in order to avoid infringement on the precious right to free speech." *Id.* at 49. The relevant question is "whether a reasonable person in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The United States Supreme Court recently granted certiorari in *Elonis v. United States*, 134 S. Ct. 2819, June 16, 2014. The Third Circuit affirmed the defendant's conviction for harassment in *United States v. Elonis*, 730 F.3d 321 (3rd Cir. 2013). The case presented the question of whether the true threats exception to speech protection under the First Amendment requires a jury to find the defendant subjectively intended his statements to be understood as threats. *Id.* at 323. The Third Circuit held that an objective standard applies and a true threat occurs when a reasonable speaker would foresee the statement would be interpreted as a threat. *Id.* at 332. The Ninth Circuit has previously held that speech may be deemed a true threat only upon proof that the speaker subjectively intended the speech as a threat. *United States v. Cassel*, 408 F.3d 622, 632-33 (9th Cir. 2005).

defendant's place would foresee that in context the listener would interpret the statement as a serious threat or a joke." *Id.* at 46.

"To determine whether a speaker has made a true threat, an appellate court must review the constitutionally critical facts in the record that are necessarily involved in the legal determination whether a true threat was made." *Id.* at 54. Mr. Krona testified that he remembered getting "foul mouthed," but he did not remember much of what he said during his arrest and at the hospital. 3/4/14 RP 124. He could not stand without falling over and was restrained during his entire tirade. 3/3/14 RP 116, 125, 126, 137. A reasonable person in Mr. Krona's situation (i.e., either handcuffed or restrained to a bed, in and out of consciousness, and exceedingly drunk) would not have foreseen that Deputy Navarro would interpret his invective as a serious threat.

Mr. Krona's poor behavior was an expression of his frustration at being, in his view, arrested for a crime he did not commit. 3/4/14 RP 121. While the words he chose to use were ugly and disrespectful, they were also protected by the First Amendment because they did not constitute a true threat. As such, Mr. Krona's harassment conviction contravenes the First Amendment and must be reversed.

c. The remedy is reversal and dismissal with prejudice.

A defendant whose conviction has been reversed due to insufficient evidence cannot be retried. *State v. Anderson*, 96 Wn.2d 739, 742, 638 P.2d 1205 (1982) (citing *Hudson v. Louisiana*, 450 U.S. 40, 44, 101 S. Ct. 970, 67 L. Ed. 2d 30 (1981)). Consequently, this Court should reverse and dismiss the harassment conviction with prejudice.

2. The admission of evidence concerning Mr. Krona's history of threats directed towards law enforcement violated his confrontation rights.

Over Mr. Krona's objection, the trial court allowed testimony that law enforcement had previously deemed Marvin Krona a potential danger to police officers because of his past behavior of threatening officers and other misconduct. CP 109-10; 3/3/14 RP 12-13. Three separate officers testified about a warning associated with Mr. Krona's name that showed up in their computer system, which assigned him the status of a "dangerous individual."

Deputy Navarro testified that he ran Marvin Krona's name through the computer system and saw that he "had an officer caution for threats to kill law enforcement and prior resisting arrest." 3/3/14 RP 112. Deputy Koziol testified that he provided cover while Deputy

Navarro approached the gray Oldsmobile because "the information we had was that the person might be dangerous." 3/4/14 RP 28. Deputy Johnson testified that Marvin Krona's name "was flagged in the computer as a potential threat towards officers" and noted that the entry was made recently. 3/4/14 RP 39-40. Deputy Johnson then further offered, "Obviously whenever you have somebody that has an officer safety caution that you're going to be wanting to request a second unit for the potential threats." 3/4/14 RP 41.

Mr. Krona objected to the admission of this evidence and argued, among other evidentiary objections, that it was inadmissible because it violated his constitutional right to confront witnesses under the Sixth Amendment. CP 109-10; 3/3/14 RP 12. The trial court overruled Mr. Krona's objections because "the state of mind of the officer on this issue is a material element[.]" 3/3/14 RP 13.

Appellate courts review an alleged violation of the confrontation clause de novo. *State v. Jasper*, 174 Wn.2d 96, 108, 271 P.3d 876 (2012). The prosecution has the burden of establishing that statements are non-testimonial. *State v. O'Cain*, 169 Wn. App. 228, 235, 279 P.3d 926 (2012) (citing *State v. Koslowski*, 166 Wn.2d 409, 417 n. 3, 209 P.3d 479 (2009)). As discussed below, the admission of this evidence

violated Mr. Krona's Sixth Amendment right to confront and cross examine witnesses who bear testimony against him.

a. The Confrontation Clause prohibits out of court testimonial statements of a witness who does not appear at trial from being admitted against a defendant.

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment provides:

"In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. Const. amend. VI. Admission of testimonial statements denies the defendant the opportunity to test accusers' statements "in the crucible of cross examination." *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 61, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004). The confrontation clause applies not only to in-court testimony, but also to out-of-court statements introduced at trial, regardless of their admissibility under the evidence rules. *Id.* at 50-51.

An out of court statement is testimonial if the primary purpose is to establish or prove past events relevant to later criminal prosecution. *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813, 822, 126 S. Ct. 2266, 165 L. Ed. 2d 224 (2006). The admission of testimonial statements of a witness who does not appear at a criminal trial violates the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment unless (1) the witness is unavailable to testify,

and (2) the defendant had a prior opportunity for cross examination. *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 53-54.

Statements that were made under circumstances that would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial are testimonial. *Id.* at 52. Statements are testimonial when the circumstances objectively indicate that there is no ongoing emergency and the primary purpose is to establish or prove past events. *Davis*, 547 U.S. at 822.

b. The testimony at trial that Mr. Krona had previously threatened law enforcement, resisted arrest, and was considered dangerous by police was testimonial.

The evidence that Mr. Krona was dangerous and had a history of threatening law enforcement and resisting arrest was testimonial because it was an assertion of past events. Mr. Krona could not cross examine the officer or officers who entered that caution into the computer system. Cross examination would have revealed the circumstances that led to the caution, allowing the jury to independently assess how to consider this evidence.

"Cross examination is the principal means by which the believability of a witness and the truth of his testimony are tested."

Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347

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