71810-0

71810-0

NO. 71810-0-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

MARVIN G. KRONA,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

JOHN J. JUHL Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent



Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

Defendant further argues that it was not reasonable for Deputy Navarro to fear the threat because he was handcuffed and restrained to a hospital bed at the time he made the threat. Brief of Appellant 9. This argument ignores the fact that defendant's threat

to Deputy Navarro was, "I will find and kill your Indian ass." RP (3/3/14) 126, 132. Harassment requires a threat to cause injury at a different time or place than the time and place where defendant makes the threat. <u>City of Seattle v. Allen</u>, 80 Wn. App. 824, 831, 911 P.2d 1354 (1996). No evidence was presented that defendant would not get out of jail at some point. Clearly, it was apparent to a reasonable criminal justice participant in Deputy Navarro's place that defendant would have the ability to carry out his threat at a different time or place.

Here, defendant's treat to find and kill Deputy Navarro was made in the context of Deputy Navarro's knowledge of the officer safety caution in the system for defendant's prior threats to kill officers, defendant's continuous threats directed at law enforcement, hospital and medical personnel, and his threat to harm Deputy Johnson's family. In the context and under the circumstances of the present case, a reasonable juror could find that a reasonable criminal justice participant in Deputy Navarro's place would have reasonably feared defendant's threat.

B. THE EVIDENCE REGARDING DEFENDANT'S PRIOR THREATS TO KILL OFFICERS WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED UNDER THE RULES OF EVIDENCE.

Defendant argues that evidence that he had previously threatened officers and resisted arrest should have been excluded because it was hearsay, unfairly prejudicial and improper propensity evidence. Brief of Appellant 19-29. The admissibility of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court, and a reviewing court will reverse only when the trial court abuses its discretion. <u>State v. Atsbeha</u>, 142 Wn.2d 904, 913-914, 16 P.3d 626 (2001); <u>State v. Stenson</u>, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997).

1. Testimony Regarding Defendant's Prior Threats to Officers Was Not Hearsay.

Hearsay is an out-of-court statement offered "to prove the truth of the matter asserted." ER 801(c). Here, the evidence of defendants' prior threats to officers was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted, but to show Deputy Navarro's state of mind. RP (3/3/14) 11-13, 113. Deputy Navarro's state of mind was material to the issue of whether he reasonably feared defendant's threat. The application of a court rule to the facts in a case is a question of law reviewed de novo. <u>State v. Neal</u>, 144 Wn.2d 600, 607, 30 P.3d 1255 (2001).

Defendant's reliance on <u>State v. Edwards</u>, 131 Wn. App. 611, 128 P.3d 632 (2006), is misplaced. In <u>Edwards</u>, over defense counsel's objection, the trial court admitted a detective's testimony regarding a confidential source's statements to the detective that Edwards was dealing crack cocaine. <u>Id</u>., at 614–615. The State argued the statements were not hearsay because they were offered to show their effect on the detective. <u>Id</u>., at 614. The Court of Appeals found that the detective's state of mind was not relevant to whether Edwards was guilty of possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver and concluded that the source's statements were inadmissible hearsay. <u>Id</u>., at 615–616.

The facts in the present case are substantially different from <u>Edwards</u>. Deputy Navarro testimony regarding the officer safety caution in the system for defendant's prior threats to kill officers was offered to show Deputy Navarro's state of mind. RP (3/3/14) 11-13. The jury was instructed that "testimony about officer safety caution information may be considered by you only as to how it may relate to the deputy's state of mind and for no other purpose." RP (3/3/14) 113. Deputy Navarro's state of mind was relevant to an issue squarely before the jury; whether or not he reasonably feared defendant's threat. The testimony was not hearsay.

2. Testimony Regarding Deputy Navarro's Knowledge Of Defendant's Prior Threats To Officers Was Relevant To Show His State Of Mind.

While Evidence Rule 404(b)¹ prohibits the admission of evidence to show the character of a person to prove the person acted in conformity with it on a particular occasion, the rule does permit the admission of prior misconduct for other purposes. State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 175, 163 P.3d 786 (2007); State v. Everybodytalksabout, 145 Wn.2d 456, 466, 39 P.3d 294 (2002). Before admitting ER 404(b) evidence, the trial court must determine that the evidence meets two distinct criteria: 1) it is logically relevant to a material issue before the jury, and 2) the probative value of the evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect. State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 358, 362, 655 P.2d 697 (1982); State v. Ragin, 94 Wn. App. 407, 411, 972 P.2d 519 (1999). A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence under ER 404(b) is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d at 176; State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995); State v. McCreven, 170

¹ ER 404(b) provides:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

Wn. App. 444, 457, 284 P.3d 793 (2012). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons. <u>Powell</u>, 126 Wn.2d at 258. Errors on rulings concerning admission of evidence under ER 404(b) are not of constitutional magnitude and do not result in automatic reversal. <u>State v. Mezquia</u>, 129 Wn. App. 118, 131, 118 P.3d 378, <u>review denied</u>, 163 Wn.2d 1046, 187 P.3d 751 (2005). "Instead, if an error is found, the reviewing court must then determine, within reasonable probability, whether the outcome of the trial would have been different but for the error." <u>Id., citing State v. Jackson</u>, 102 Wn.2d 689, 695, 689 P.2d 76 (1984). The reviewing court will not disturb a trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence if it is sustainable on alternative grounds. <u>State v. St. Pierre</u>, 111 Wn.2d 105, 119, 759 P.2d 383 (1988); <u>McCreven</u>, 170 Wn. App. at 457.

Evidence is admissible under ER 404(b) if relevant for some purpose other than to show general character or propensity. <u>State</u> <u>v. Herzog</u>, 73 Wn. App. 34, 50, 867 P.2d 648 (1994). Relevant evidence need only make the existence or nonexistence of a material fact "more or less likely." ER 401; <u>State v. Israel</u>, 113 Wn. App. 243, 267, 54 P.3d 1218 (2002). The trial court is generally the proper court to weigh the relevance of evidence. <u>Foxhoven</u>, 161

Wn.2d at 176. Relevant evidence is generally admissible. ER 402. "It is not an abuse of discretion when the trial court correctly interprets the rules of evidence. <u>Gresham</u>, 173 Wn.2d at 422; <u>Foxhoven</u>, 161 Wn.2d at 174.

Finding that the officer's state of mind was a material element, the trial court permitted testimony regarding Deputy Navarro's knowledge of the officer safety caution in the system for defendant's prior threats to kill officers and resisting arrest. The court informed defendant that it would give a limiting instruction if drafted and proposed. RP (3/3/14) 11-13. If a criminal defendant requests a limiting instruction, the trial court has a duty to correctly instruct the jury on the purpose and use of ER 404(b) evidence. <u>State v. Gresham</u>, 173 Wn.2d 405, 424, 269 P.3d 207 (2012); <u>State v. Asaeli</u>, 150 Wn. App. 543, 577 n. 35, 208 P.3d 1136 (2009). Defendant requested and the court gave a limiting instruction. RP (3/3/14) 80-82, 112-113. Here, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the challenged evidence for the purpose determining Deputy Navarro's state of mind.

3. The Probative Value Of The Evidence Outweighed Any Prejudicial Effect.

"Once a court has determined that evidence is relevant, the court must weigh any prejudice the evidence will have against its probative effect. ER 403." <u>State v. Saltarelli</u>, 98 Wn.2d 358, 361, 655 P.2d 697 (1982); <u>Israel</u>, 113 Wn. App. at 268. The trial court has discretion to balances the probative value of the evidence with its prejudicial effect. <u>Herzog</u>, 73 Wn. App. at 50. "The prejudice ER 404(b) seeks to avoid is not that the evidence tends to prove the defendant is guilty. The unfair prejudice is that the jury is induced to believe the defendant is a bad person and to infer that he is therefore guilty." <u>State v. Trickler</u>, 106 Wn. App. 727, 735, 25 P.3d 445 (2001) (dissent), <u>citing State v. Saltarelli</u>, 98 Wn.2d 358, 363, 655 P.2d 697 (1982). While defendant asserts that the testimony was highly prejudicial, he has not identified any unfair prejudice that outweighed the probative value of this evidence.

Here, the prejudicial nature of the testimony was slight while the probative value was high. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting testimony regarding the officer safety caution in the system for defendant's threats to kill officers to show Deputy Navarro's state of mind. The jury was instructed on the limited use of this evidence. The probative value of the evidence outweighed any prejudicial effect. A review of the entire record shows convincingly that the outcome of the trial would not have been affected had the challenged evidence been excluded. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the testimony.

C. DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION WAS NOT VIOLATED.

Defendant argues the admission of evidence of an "Officer Safety Caution" in the system regarding defendant for prior threats to kill officers violated his right to confrontation. Brief of Appellant 13-19. Alleged violations of the confrontation clause are reviewed de novo. <u>State v. Tyler</u>, 138 Wn. App. 120, 126, 155 P.3d 1002 (2007).

The Confrontation Clause only applies to those statements that are offered for the truth of what they assert – i.e., those statements that are also hearsay.

One thing that is clear from <u>Crawford</u> is that the Clause has no role unless the challenged out-of-court statement is offered for the truth of the matter asserted in the statement. <u>Crawford</u> states: "The Clause ... does not bar the use of testimonial statements for purposes other than establishing the truth of the matter asserted." And the only nontestimonial statements that it considers to be possible subjects of the Clause are "nontestimonial hearsay." (to the extent Confrontation Clause covers

more than testimonial statements, its subject is hearsay.) In other words, the Clause restricts only statements meeting the traditional definition of hearsay.

<u>U.S. v. Faulkner</u>, 439 F.3d 1221, 1226 (10th Cir. 2006), <u>citing</u> <u>Crawford v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36, 60, n. 9, 68, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 1369, 1374, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004).

Washington Courts have squarely interpreted <u>Crawford</u> to exclude non-hearsay from Confrontation Clause claims. "[E]ven testimonial statements may be admitted if offered for purpose other than to prove the truth of the matter asserted." <u>State v. Davis</u>, 154 Wn.2d 291, 301, 111 P.3d 844 (2005); <u>State v. James</u>, 138 Wn. App. 628, 641, 158 P.3d 102 (2007) (the confrontation clause is not implicated by testimony that is not presented for the truth of the matter asserted).

The Crawford Court specifically retained the preexisting rule ... that "the Confrontation Clause ... does not bar the use of testimonial statements for the purposes other than establishing the truth of the matter asserted." There is no doubt that Washington decisions following <u>Crawford</u> recognize that "[w]hen out-of-court assertions are not introduced to prove the truth of the matter asserted, they are not hearsay and no confrontation clause concerns arise."

In re Threders, 130 Wn. App. 422, 495, 123 P.3d 489 (2005) (citations omitted).

Here, evidence of the officer safety caution in the system for defendant's threats to kill officers was properly admitted to show Deputy Navarro's state of mind, not for the truth of the matter. RP (3/3/14) 11-13. The jury was instructed that it could only consider the testimony as it related to the deputy's state of mind and for no other purpose. RP (3/3/14) 113.

D. OFFENDER SCORE.

Defendant argues the trial court miscalculated his offender score at sentencing. Brief of Appellant 29-36. Defendant did not dispute his offender score at sentencing. RP (4/3/14) 3-12. A sentencing court's offender score calculation is reviewed de novo. State v. Wilson, 170 Wn.2d 682, 688, 244 P.3d 950 (2010).

1. Defendant's Offender Score For DUI.

Defendant does not challenge the score of 2 for his prior felony DUI convictions, the score of 5 for his prior non-felony serious traffic offense convictions, or the score of 1 because he was on community custody on July 13, 2013. Rather, he argues the Judgment and Sentence does not distinguish which prior convictions were used in calculating his DUI offender score. Brief of Appellant 31-32. The record clearly demonstrates that defendant's prior felony DUI convictions, his prior non-felony

serious traffic offense convictions, and his community custody status were correctly included in calculating defendant's offender score for felony DIU. CP 137, 138 (Exhibits 1-4); CP (sub# 51, State's Sentencing Memorandum); RP (3/24/14) 5-7; RP (4/3/14) 3.

The SRA Offender Scoring for defendant's felony DUI was attached to the State's Sentencing Memorandum. Under Adult History defendant's two felony DUI convictions and five non-felony serious traffic offense convictions were included in defendant's score. Exhibit 1 is a certified copy of the Judgment and Sentence for defendant's two prior felony convictions for DUI. CP 138. Exhibit 3 includes certified copies of the Court Dockets for defendant's prior non-felony convictions for DUI and Reckless Driving. CP 137. One point was added because defendant was on community custody on the date the current offense was committed. RP (3/24/14) 6-7. The trial court properly included two points for defendant's prior felony DUI convictions, five points for his prior non-felony serious traffic offense convictions, and one point for being on community custody at the time of the current offense. This made defendant's offender score 8.

The State concedes that defendant's felony harassment conviction in the present case should not have been included under

other current offenses. Harassment is not among the statutorily specified convictions for offender score inclusion under RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e). <u>State v. Jacob</u>, 176 Wn. App. 351, 360, 308 P.3d 800 (2013); <u>State v. Morales</u>, 168 Wn. App. 489, 498, 278 P.3d 668 (2012); <u>State v. Redd</u>, 51 Wn. App. 597, 613, 754 P.2d 1041 (1988). However, a change in defendant's offender score by 1 would not change his sentence range for felony DUI because the standard sentence range for felony DUI for scores of both 8 and 9 is 60 to 60 months. CP ____ (sub# 51, State's Sentencing Memorandum). The trial court correctly imposed 60 months. Changing defendant's score would not reduce the length of his confinement. A case is moot when a court cannot provide effective relief. <u>State v. Ross</u>, 152 Wn.2d 220, 228, 95 P.3d 1225 (2004).

2. Defendant's Offender Score For Harassment.

Defendant argues the evidence presented at sentencing shows that his 1985 Taking a Motor Vehicle without Permission (TMV) conviction and 1994 Attempt to Elude a Pursuing Police Vehicle conviction washed-out and should not have been included in calculating his offender score for his harassment conviction. Brief of Appellant 33-36. However, reducing the 29 month confinement on his harassment conviction would not reduce the

length of his confinement. Defendant's term of confinement on his harassment conviction is served concurrently with the 60 month term of confinement on his DUI conviction. CP 25. While a case is moot when a court can no longer provide effective relief, the appellate court may still reach a determination on the merits to provide guidance to lower courts if a case presents an issue of continuing and substantial public interest and that issue will likely reoccur. Ross, 152 Wn.2d at 228.

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